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Dear Superintendent Hanson: 

 

The U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights (OCR), has completed its investigation 

of the above-referenced complaint against Fresno Unified School District (District).  The 

complainant alleged that the District discriminated against his son (Student)
1
 on the basis of 

disability by denying the Student a free appropriate public education (FAPE).  Specifically, OCR 

investigated the following allegations: 

1. Whether the District failed to implement the Student’s Section 504 plan and Behavior 

Support Plan; and 

2. Whether the District subjected the Student to a significant change in placement without first 

conducting an evaluation/re-evaluation of the Student. 

 

OCR investigated the complaint under the authority of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 

1973 (Section 504) and its implementing regulation, 34 C.F.R. Part 104, which prohibit 

discrimination on the basis of disability in programs and activities operated by recipients of Federal 

financial assistance.  OCR also has jurisdiction over the complaint under Title II of the Americans 

with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended (Title II), and its implementing regulation, 28 C.F.R. Part 

35, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of disability by certain public entities.  The District 

receives Department funds, is a public education system, and is subject to the requirements of 

Section 504, Title II, and the regulations. 

 

OCR gathered evidence by conducting interviews with the complainant and District staff, as well as 

by reviewing documents and information provided by the complainant and the District. OCR 

determined that there was sufficient evidence to support a conclusion of noncompliance with Section 

504 and Title II and their implementing regulations with respect to the allegations investigated.  The 

relevant facts gathered during our investigation, the applicable legal standards, and reasons for OCR’s 

determination are summarized below. 

                                                           
1
 OCR notified the District of the identity of the complainant and the Student when the investigation began. OCR is 

withholding their names from this letter to protect their privacy. 
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Findings of Fact 

 

Student Background Information 

 

The Student began attending District schools in kindergarten and enrolled at a community day 

school (School) as a fifth grader at the start of the 2011-2012 school year. The Student remained 

enrolled at the School as a sixth grader during the 2012-2013 school year, but spent a significant 

part of the school year in a school in the juvenile hall, which is not one of the District’s programs. 

Following an incident in April 2013, the District recommended him for expulsion from the District, 

from which he was subsequently expelled in July 2013. The Student spent most of the next three 

years in programs run by the Fresno County Superintendent of Schools (County).  

 

The School 

 The School is a District community day school, which serves a small population of students.   

Enrollment for the 2011-2012, 2012-2013 and 2013-2014 school years was 50, 42 and 52 

students, respectively.   

 The School Principal (Principal) described the School to OCR as the District’s behavior 

modification school. One of the teachers at the School informed OCR that it was desirable for 

students at the School to leave after a six-month period. According to School administrators, the 

School’s primary focus is not academics but rather behavior modification. The behavioral 

system at the School includes a dress code, behavioral rewards and consequences and time spent 

in Room 7, which is described in detail below.  

 According to the Principal, students who attend the School have engaged in problematic 

behavior at their home schools. Students may be placed at the School through the expulsion 

process or the District’s Multidisciplinary Team process.  

 The Multidisciplinary Team is typically comprised of a staff member from the District’s 

Department of Prevention and Intervention, the School psychologist (Psychologist), a 

representative from Fresno County Mental Health, a District nurse, a Child Protective Services 

representative, and the Principal. Additionally, the student’s parents and staff from the student’s 

home school attend Multidisciplinary Team meetings. If the Multidisciplinary Team 

recommends that a student be referred to the School, the student may enroll at the School. The 

Multidisciplinary Team reviews whether a student has an IEP or Section 504 plan with behavior 

components or a behavior support plan (BSP). However, the Multidisciplinary Team is not 

convened as either an IEP team meeting or a Section 504 Team meeting. 

 

Room 7 

 Students are referred to the School’s Room 7 if they engage in behaviors that are disruptive in 

the classroom setting or in other areas of the campus.  According to the Principal, Room 7 has 

been in existence for several years and was developed as an alternative to sending students to 

the office. The School determined that due to the nature of the behaviors for which students 

were referred, it was not safe for them to be in the front office without supervision. The 

Principal described Room 7 as a “timeout” room.  
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 OCR inspected Room 7 during an on-site visit. It is an open empty room located in a detached 

portable building with two windows. The two campus assistants’ adjoining offices are adjacent 

to the door into and out of the room, which locks from the outside but typically remains open.  

 At the time of OCR’s visit, there were no desks or books in Room 7. The District told OCR that 

to avoid serious injury caused by furniture which students in Room 7 may throw, the room is 

furnished with three lightweight plastic folding chairs and one plastic folding table.  There are 

also storage cabinets, a counter, and a mat on the floor. The District told OCR that the mat is 

used when students are subjected to a restraint.  

 There are two campus assistants and two administrators (Principal or Vice Principal) who 

monitor students in Room 7. Typically, there is one campus assistant and one administrator in 

the room. Either the Principal or the Vice Principal acts as the supervisory administrator in 

Room 7. 

 School staff stated that they will call the front office to have someone escort a student to Room 

7 who has become disruptive in the classroom or anywhere on campus. Nearly all referrals to 

Room 7 are made by teachers or administrators.  

 According to administrators, the offenses for which students are referred to Room 7 would be 

suspendable offenses on other school campuses. One administrator gave the example of a 

student using profanity towards another student. He stated that at a regular school, the offending 

student would be suspended for two days, whereas at the School, the student would be sent to 

Room 7 and allowed to return to class after 15 minutes of compliant behavior.   

 The Principal told OCR that if the School suspended students for the offenses for which they 

were sent to Room 7, there would be no students left on campus. 

 Campus assistants respond to radio requests for escorts from teachers, go to classrooms to pick 

up referred students and escort the referred students to Room 7. Once a referred student has 

arrived in Room 7, the campus assistants speak to the student and try to calm the student. 

Campus assistants also fill out a log to document a referred student’s attendance in Room 7. 

They note the following information: (1) the student’s name, (2) the student’s home classroom, 

(3) the time a student arrives, and (4) length of stay for a school day.  A school manager keeps 

and files the logs and then sends the accumulated logs to the Principal’s supervisor, who is the 

Assistant Superintendent. The School has collected data on student visits to Room 7 for at least 

the past three years.   

 Once a student is sent to Room 7, the expectation is that the student will remain there until an 

adult releases and escorts the student back to his or her class. One of the campus assistants of 

Room 7 indicated that students who are sent there cannot leave until they have “served their 

time.” Another campus assistant stated that if a student were to attempt to leave Room 7, the 

student would be physically blocked at the doorway by one of Room 7’s campus assistant. 

 The School has the following guidelines which are posted on a wall in Room 7 regarding the 

length of time a student may spend in Room 7:  
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First referral: 15 minutes in Room 7  

Second referral: 30 minutes in Room 7 

Third referral: 60 minutes in Room 7 (teacher calls home) 

Fourth referral: the balance of the school day in Room 7   

 The guidelines also provide for the following: at least two adults should be in the room at all 

times; the level behavior system should be followed (see below for a description of the level 

system); restraints should be used as a last resort; adults should use low/calm voices in close 

proximity; and the students should be isolated or ignored, but not threatened. 

 The Principal told OCR that a student’s first referral to Room 7 serves the function of a 15-

minute time out. Typically, students are expected to stand next to a wall during this time. The 

fifteen-minute clock starts when the student begins standing quietly; students referred to Room 

7 understand that the clock does not start until they begin standing quietly. After the fifteen 

minutes are up, the student is escorted back to his or her classroom. Students are expected to 

stand for the entirety of the first fifteen-minute referral. If the student is referred to Room 7 for a 

second time, the student spends thirty minutes in Room 7. Typically, during the second referral, 

a referred student first stands up and later earns the ability to take a seat. Students typically sit in 

a plastic chair at the table or on the floor. During the fifteen-minute and thirty-minute referrals, 

students in Room 7 do not do any classwork. 

 The Vice Principal and the campus assistants told OCR that if a student is referred to Room 7 

for a third time (the 60 minute-referral), arrangements are made to provide the student with 

work. The classroom teacher puts the work packet together on the spot. Either a classmate of the 

referred student, an administrator or a campus assistant will bring the work packet to the 

referred student. The campus assistants do not supervise referred students’ work on their work 

packets. If a student has written on the surface of the table in the room, the student may be told 

to do his or her work on the floor. 

 Campus assistants also told OCR that they are not given copies of referred students’ Section 504 

plans or IEPs, if students have either, and so do not implement those students’ accommodations. 

The administrators may supervise students’ work on work packets. Occasionally, students are 

referred to Room 7 because they are not doing their classwork. In such instances, campus 

assistants or supervisory administrators will have a conversation with those students and tell 

them that they have the option either to do their classwork in Room 7 or after school. 

 

Disciplinary System – Levels System and Star Chart 

 

 School administrators described the School’s disciplinary system to OCR. It is comprised of 

four levels used to monitor student behavior. The School told OCR that it defines the levels as 

follows: 
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Level 1: This is the baseline behavior level at which all students enter the school. Students 

whose behavior is at Level 1 have no privileges, are held in the classroom for breaks and lunch, 

are escorted to the restroom and are not permitted access to the student store. 

Level 2: This is the level that students attain when their behavior begins to improve but it is not 

yet where School staff want it to be. Students at Level 2 are permitted to have lunch in the 

cafeteria and to be outside for at least half of lunch recess if their behavior is good. They are 

supervised in the restroom and are still not permitted to access the student store.  

 

Level 3: This level represents regular school behavior – i.e., the type of behavior one sees on a 

regular school campus with the occasional push, shove or bad word. At Level 3, students have 

regular school privileges: they can go outside for breaks, have use of the playground, and are 

permitted access to the student store. 

  

Level 4: This level represents exceptional behavior at any school. Students who are at Level 4 

are permitted all school privileges and are entitled to an activity with the Principal twice a 

month (which is lunch at a nearby restaurant). If a student stays on Level 4 for 30 school days, 

they earn a bike. Students at Level 4 are permitted to go on field trips. However, if a student 

returns to the School at any time in the future, none of the Level 4 rewards will apply. 

 

 The Principal told OCR that the School’s goal is to have students regularly presenting at Level 3 

so they can transition back to their home schools. Students accumulate stars for good behavior, 

staying on task and doing what is asked of them (e.g., a student not turning around in his or her 

chair). When a student has accumulated 17 out of a possible 20 stars five days in a row, the 

student moves up to the next level. 

 

Student’s History in the District Prior to Enrollment in the School 

 The Student attended other District schools prior to his fifth grade year and had a long history of 

behavioral concerns. The District conducted an initial psycho-educational assessment of the 

Student in 2008, when the Student was in first grade. The Student’s family requested the 

assessment based on concerns about the Student’s inattentiveness, hyperactivity, and defiance. 

The report stated that the Student displayed a significant level of hyperactive and impulsive 

behaviors, but concluded that these behaviors were not significantly impacting the Student’s 

educational performance. The report also concluded that the Student was not eligible for special 

education.  

 The District also conducted a Functional Behavior Assessment (FBA) and subsequently 

developed a BSP for the Student on January XX, 2008. The BSP indicated that the need for a 

BSP was serious. It noted that the Student was attentive to classroom lessons for a period of 

approximately two minutes. He would then get out of his seat, walk around the classroom and 

yell out statements and observations about other students. The BSP stated that the Student was 

unresponsive to redirection by the teacher. The BSP stated that this behavior impeded the 

Student’s learning because the Student was unable to attend to instruction. The BSP noted that 

this behavior was daily and ongoing.  

 The BSP stated that the Student needed to be taught the replacement behaviors of sitting in his 

seat and raising his hand when seeking attention and to address the class. Additionally, the BSP 
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directed the teacher to instruct the other students in the classroom to ignore the Student’s 

hyperactive behavior. The BSP directed that when the Student engaged in the replacement 

behavior, the school staff should reinforce the behavior through verbal praise and use of a 

sticker chart. The BSP stated that if the Student continued to engage in problematic behavior, 

the Teacher would send him to an administrator’s office and subject him to disciplinary 

consequences. 

 The District did not develop a Section 504 plan for the Student until November 19, 2009, when 

the Student was in third grade. The November 2009 Section 504 plan acknowledges that 

District-identified interventions for the Student’s behavior were unsuccessful and that attempts 

to redirect the Student’s behavior resulted in the escalation of the Student’s behavior. The 

Section 504 plan stated that the Student’s academic progress was adversely affected by his 

behavior, which often resulted in suspension and limited his learning time.  

 The November 2009 Section 504 plan included a new BSP. The 2009 BSP stated, “the Student 

demonstrates difficulty maintaining positive peer interactions during recess (verbal 

confrontations, pushing, hitting, fighting with others, threatening students) [,] demonstrates 

defiant/disrespectful behavior with adults in and outside of the classroom (argues with teacher, 

disobeys direct instructions, talks back) [and] disrupts classroom instruction.” The BSP stated 

that the Student’s behavior impeded the Student’s learning because it directly impacted his 

ability to follow directions, be productive and make academic progress in all school settings. 

The BSP provided that the need for a BSP was “extreme” and that the Student’s problematic 

behavior occurred on a daily basis.  

 Noted as an additional “accommodation” in the 2009 Section 504 plan was a 20-minute time out 

card which would be given to the Student to go to the office when he refused to do classwork 

and disrupted the learning of other students. The Section 504 plan also included the following 

interventions to address the Student’s behavior: a sticker chart for positive reinforcement, the 

Second Step social emotional curriculum, cooling off passes, supervised recesses and 

preferential seating.  

2011-2012 (Fifth Grade): Student’s First Year of Enrollment at the School 

 The Student’s family consented to the Multidisciplinary Team’s recommendation that the 

Student enroll in the School at the start of his 5
th

 grade year (the 2011-2012 school year). 

 The Principal informed OCR that unlike other students, the Student’s behavior did not improve 

during his first year at the School. OCR asked the Principal if he was aware of the Student’s 

2009 Section 504 plan and 2009 BSP. The Principal first told OCR that he was unaware of the 

Student having enrolled at the School with any such documents. He then told OCR that he 

recalled having seen the Student’s existing Section 504 plan and BSP, but could not remember 

the date of either document.  

 In March 2012, the Student was suspended for three days for getting in a fight with another 

student and then purposely breaking a classroom window.  
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 In a letter to the District/Multidisciplinary Team dated April XX, 2012, the complainant 

requested a re-evaluation of the Student for his eligibility for special education provisions and 

Section 504 accommodations.  The letter expressed concern about the Student not progressing 

well in school, being below grade level, and needing help learning. The letter stated that the 

Student’s teachers for the past two years had noted that the Student had substantial problems 

completing assignments, aggressive behavior, impulsivity, self-injurious behavior, inappropriate 

crying and temper tantrums. The letter also noted that the Student’s pediatrician had recently 

diagnosed the Student as having bipolar disorder, ADHD and Oppositional Defiant Disorder. 

Finally, the letter requested that the Student “be placed at a school that is more equipped to 

handle his needs, like a program for emotionally disturbed students within the [District.]”  

 On April XX, 2012, the School held a Section 504 meeting, which was attended by the School 

Psychologist, the Principal, the Student’s 5
th

 grade teacher and the complainant, to review a new 

Section 504 Plan for the Student. The Student’s disabilities were listed as ADHD, Bipolar 

Disorder, Oppositional Defian[t] Disorder and Asthma. The Student’s school-based 

accommodations were as follows: 1) positive reinforcement to recognize positive behaviors; 2) 

preferential seating by Teacher to prevent classroom conflicts with other students; and 3) 

communication between administrators and parent, when necessary, regarding negative 

behaviors.  

 On April XX, 2012, the District developed a new Behavior Support Plan (BSP), attached to the 

Section 504 Plan. The BSP described the behavior impeding the Student’s learning as 

“escalating aggression pattern toward other students as shown by pushing, nudging/punking 

other students in the classroom, and getting in physical fights, and/or swearing and verbally 

challenging peers and adults.”  The BSP described the reason the behavior impeded learning as 

the Student is “unavailable for learning and disrupts other student[s’] opportunity to learn.”  The 

box next to the word “moderate” was checked in response to the Student’s need for a BSP.  The 

frequency or intensity or duration of behavior was described as “daily in the classroom, more 

than 1x per day at school,” both as reported by teachers and observed by School staff. 

 The BSP noted that environmental supports and/or changes were necessary for the Student and 

that in addition to positive reinforcement for good behavior, the Student needed to be taught 

new replacement behavior. The BSP outlined a series of interventions to be used, such as:  

rewarding the Student with praise and/or tangible rewards; when the Student is bullying other 

students, providing a space away from those he is engaged with will be provided; using a star 

chart each day at school with clearly defined behavior expectations and specific acceptable and 

non-acceptable behaviors in each class; and permission to quickly run to the school yard fence 

and back to release pent-up energy. 

 The Student’s April 2012 Section 504 Plan and BSP were in effect during the remainder of the 

2011-2012 school year, 2012-2013 school year, and the 2013-2014 school year through May 

XX, 2014. The complainant alleged that the School failed to implement the Student’s 2012 

Section 504 plan and BSP. In particular, the complainant alleged that rather than implementing 

the accommodations in the Student’s Section 504 Plan and his BSP, the School repeatedly sent 

the Student out of the classroom to Room 7.  
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 Between May X and June X, 2012, two District psychologists and a special education teacher 

conducted a psycho-educational assessment of the Student per the complainant’s request. The 

psychoeducational assessment report indicated academic and behavioral reasons for the referral 

including: lack of academic progress, below grade-level academic performance, lack of work 

completion, aggressive behavior, impulsivity, self-injurious behavior, inappropriate crying, and 

temper tantrums. The assessment included tests to evaluate the Student’s adaptive behavior. The 

adaptive behavior assessments showed that the Student‘s externalizing behaviors, which the 

assessment report noted to be aggression, hyperactivity, and conduct problems, were in the 

clinically significant range at home and school. The report also noted that the Student had 

significantly elevated scores in the areas of inattention, hyperactivity/impulsivity, 

defiance/aggression and peer relationships. The report identified three areas of suspected 

disability: Specific Learning Disability, Emotional Disturbance and Other Health Impairment. 

 The District convened an IEP team meeting on June XX, 2012 to discuss the Student’s 

assessment results. Two school psychologists, the Principal, the complainant, the Student’s 5
th

 

grade teacher and a Special Education Specialist, among others, attended the meeting. The IEP 

team presented the psychoeducational assessment at the meeting and explained that the Student 

did not “meet eligibility to receive Special Education Services at this time” and would “continue 

with his [Section] 504 plan.”  The IEP meeting notes do not include discussion as to whether the 

Student’s Section 504 plan met his individual needs. Nor do they include discussion as to 

whether the Student’s current placement and services were appropriate or needed to be 

modified. Nor do they reference the complainant’s request that the Student be evaluated for the 

emotionally disturbed program, which he had made when interviewed by the School nurse just 

prior to the IEP meeting as part of the Student’s assessment. The IEP team concluded that the 

Student was not eligible for an IEP.  

 The Psychologist told OCR that the Student did not have a learning disability and did not 

qualify for an IEP based on emotional disturbance because the Student’s behaviors were not 

maladaptive but merely socially unacceptable. She stated that the Student already had a Section 

504 plan at the time of his assessment as a result of his ADHD and noted that he was on 

medication. She stated that the Student was doing well academically and had high California 

Standard Tests (CST) scores.  However, the Student scored neither at the advanced or proficient 

level on the 2009, 2010 or 2011 CST. In 2010, he scored at the below basic level in English 

Language Arts and Mathematics, and he scored at the basic level in both English Language Arts 

and Mathematics in 2009 and 2011. According to the California Department of Education, 

“proficient” means grade level understanding, “basic” means that the student demonstrated a 

partial and rudimentary understanding of the knowledge and skills measured by the CST, and 

“below basic” means student demonstrates little or flawed understanding.
2
 Despite the Student’s 

serious behavior issues and lack of academic progress, the District described to OCR that it 

considered the Student to be thriving in the educational setting, and determined he did not 

qualify for an IEP.  

 The Psychologist informed OCR that the Student’s behavior was not indicative of an inability to 

build relationships and that he had in fact built relationships in all settings. This is in contrast to 

                                                           
2
 See, http://star.cde.ca.gov/star2013/help_scoreexplanations.aspx.  

http://star.cde.ca.gov/star2013/help_scoreexplanations.aspx
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reports of the Student’s teachers and complainant gathered as part of the assessment, who 

reported that the Student had difficulty maintaining positive relationships with peers and adults. 

 According to the District, the complainant did not request further evaluation of the Student, or 

modifications to his Section 504 plan or BSP, until April 2013, following an incident which 

resulted in the Student’s transfer to juvenile hall.  

2012-2013 (Sixth Grade): Student’s Second Year of Enrollment at the School 

 During the 2012-2013 school year, the Student was enrolled at the School from August XX, 

2012 to January XX, 2013, and then from April XX, 2013 to April XX, 2013, for a total of 83 

days. 

 OCR interviewed the Student’s teacher (Teacher) for the 2012-2013 school year and asked the 

Teacher to describe the behavioral interventions utilized for the Student. The Teacher did not 

reference any of the interventions in the BSP except to say that he did not raise his voice when 

he spoke to the Student.  The Teacher did not reference the star chart, allowing the Student to 

run to the school yard fence or teaching the Student appropriate ways to ask for help or express 

his feelings. Nor did he discuss collecting and analyzing data on the Student’s behavior and 

attempted interventions. Rather, the Teacher stated that he took a general approach to instructing 

all of his students, most of whom had IEPs or Section 504 plans. The Teacher stated that he 

differentiated instruction, would remain calm in his verbal communications, would read 

questions aloud to the students, give them additional time to do their work and remind them of 

classroom expectations. With respect to the Student, the Teacher said that he would remind the 

Student of the problems he was supposed to be doing and of classroom expectations.  

 According to the Teacher, the Student was academically very capable but nonetheless earned Cs 

and Ds rather than As or Bs. He did not use his strengths and consequently did not execute his 

assignments.  

 The Teacher told OCR that the Student was very loud and verbal and exhibited aggressive or 

threatening behavior toward his peers, identifying and exploiting their weaknesses. According to 

the Teacher, the Student did not have any strong relationships with his peers and struggled to 

understand classroom expectations for behavior.  

 When asked about Room 7, the Teacher said that the Student was in Room 7 “too often for a 

healthy student.” He said that the Room 7 program had been in place for six years and that staff 

did not consistently send work with students referred to Room 7. The Teacher told OCR that 

there was concern about sending students to Room 7 with pencils for fear that the students 

would use sharpened pencils to hurt themselves or others. With respect to whether the Student 

in particular was provided with work to do while in Room 7, the Teacher said that he may have 

sent work.  

 The Principal told OCR that in contrast to his fifth grade year, the Student was referred much 

more frequently to Room 7 during his sixth grade year. He stayed at or around Level 1, the 

School’s lowest level for behavior, for two years. He typically went to Room 7 every day and 

normally more than once a day because within a few minutes of being sent back to the 
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classroom, the Student would engage in inappropriate behaviors such as hitting, making threats 

and screaming.  

 The Principal stated that he and other staff members would tell the Student that if he behaved 

and did what he needed to do, they would set up a meeting with a local football player. A 

campus assistant stated that School staff would also offer students trips to restaurants and ice 

cream parlors to create incentives for good behavior.   

 The Principal told OCR that during the 2011-2012 school year, the Student was sent to Room 7 

three or four times a week. Documentation from the District shows that the Student was in 

Room 7 69 days during the 2011-2012 school year.  As evidenced by the Room 7 daily logs, the 

amount of time the Student spent there ranged from 15 minutes to the entire day. The Student 

spent “all day” in Room 7 on numerous occasions. According to District staff interviewed by 

OCR, the Student was typically referred to Room 7 for the Student’s safety and the safety of 

others due to Student’s behavior in other classrooms. 

 

 2011-2012 

school year 

Approximate number of days 

enrolled at the School 

156 

Number of days in Room 7 69 

District’s approximation of 

Student’s total number of 

hours in Room 7 

149.45 

Number of CPI restraints 1 

Number of days reported 

suspended 

3 

 School staff administered a crisis prevention intervention (CPI) restraint on the Student while he 

was in Room 7 on one occasion during the 2011-2012 school year. The District informed OCR 

that following the restraint, either the Principal or the Vice Principal called the complainant to 

notify him of the restraint. The District provided no further information as to the use or nature of 

the CPI restraint and did not have any written documentation of the incident. 

 According to data from the District, the Student was placed in Room 7 for 37 of the 83 days he 

attended the School during the 2012-2013 school year. The length of his visits to Room 7 varied 

once again from 15 minutes to the entire school day.  The District stated that when the Student 

was placed in Room 7 for the entire day it was for the Student’s safety and the safety of other 

students due to the Student’s behavior.  

 2012-2013 

school year 

Approximate number of days 

enrolled at the School 

83 

Number of days in Room 7 37 

District’s approximation of 

Student’s total number of hours 

181.15 
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 2012-2013 

school year 

in Room 7 

OCR’s approximation of 

Student’s total number of hours 

of lost instruction due to time 

spent in Room 7.   

185.87 

Number of CPI restraints 1 

Number of days reported 

suspended 

13 

 When the campus assistants were asked what types of behaviors they saw from students in 

Room 7, they mentioned the following: lots of crying, cussing, pacing back and forth, screaming 

or yelling. Regarding the Student’s behaviors in Room 7, one campus assistant said that the 

Student could not be around other students, he would typically spend the whole day in Room 7 

and that he really needed a 1:1 aide. The second campus assistant stated that the Student would 

lash out at other students in Room 7 and estimated that during the Student’s 6
th

 grade year, he 

came to Room 7 at least once a day. The second campus assistant also recalled an instance 

outside of Room 7 when the Student threatened to stab him and the Principal. 

 When asked about the behavioral interventions that they had been advised to use, one campus 

assistant stated that she would tell students with behavioral difficulties that she would take them 

to local restaurants or ice cream parlors. 

 Between August XX, 2012 and January XX, 2013, the Student was suspended for seven days. 

The bases for these suspensions included disruption; defiance; having caused, attempted or 

threatened physical injury to others; obscene acts; vulgarity; and terrorist threats. 

 On January XX, 2013, the Student was transferred to attend school at a County program, where 

he was enrolled between January XX, 2013 and April XX, 2013. On April XX, 2013, the 

Student reenrolled at the School.  

 On April XX, 2013, the Student engaged in misbehavior, disruption and profanity and failed to 

observe school rules when he and another student were poised to fight. 

 On April XX, 2013, the Student was suspended for one day for yelling obscenities and starting 

an altercation with another student.  

 On April XX, 2013, a second CPI restraint was used on the Student for an incident that occurred 

outside Room 7. The Student had an argument with a female student, subsequently threatened 

several staff at School, and took a swing at the Principal. Site administrators restrained the 

Student on the ground until a police officer from the local police department (Police 

Department) arrived at the scene.  

 The District informed OCR that a written account of the CPI restraint was documented by the 

Police Department in a Law Enforcement Report about the incident. The District also informed 
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OCR that the Principal contacted the complainant and spoke to him about the incident. The 

District did not have any independent written documentation of the incident. 

 

Manifestation Meeting Regarding April XX, 2013 Incident  

 On April XX, 2013, there was a manifestation determination meeting held regarding the 

Student’s misconduct during the April XX, 2013 incident at the School. The attendees included 

the complainant, Principal, Psychologist, Site Section 504 Coordinator, and the District Section 

504 Coordinator.  

 The form filled out at the meeting was called a “504 manifestation determination meeting 

summary.” It was one page in length and included four questions. In response to the first 

question about the reason for the meeting, the team stated that the Student “had an argument 

with a female student which led to further altercation and serious threats made to the staff at [the 

School.] They are recommending expulsion.” 

 In response to the second question about whether the accommodations and/or modifications 

were being followed at the time of the event, the team wrote, “The 504 plan included 

accommodations for academic needs and behavior plan. These accommodations and plan were 

being followed at the time of the event.” 

 In response to the third question regarding a summary of the student’s disability, the team 

included ADHD, bipolar disorder, ODD and asthma.  

 In response to the fourth question regarding whether the conduct in question was related to or 

directly a result of the student’s identified disability, the team checked the box next to the word 

“no.” Nothing was written next to the words “Explain Answer.”  

 The bottom of the form included a place for signatures. All of the meeting attendees except for 

the complainant signed the form. The complainant included his initials, acknowledging that he 

had received a copy of his procedural safeguards, but did not sign the form. The form indicates 

that the complainant disagreed with the team’s decision, which was noted at the bottom of the 

form with the words “Father disagrees.” 

 The District reported to OCR that staff did not have time to schedule and hold the Student’s 

annual Section 504 meeting between April XX and April XX, 2013, which was the five-day 

period during which the Student attended the School prior to returning to a County program.  

 The Principal told OCR that he did not recall much of the manifestation determination meeting, 

except for the fact that the District Section 504 coordinator stated that bad behavior or behavior 

issues was not a disability. The Principal added that the question that was posed at the meeting 

was whether the Student’s ADHD caused him not to understand that threatening an adult was 

wrong. The Principal said that he, the Psychologist, and District Section 504 Coordinator were 

all of the opinion that it did not. The Principal said that he did not think that the complainant 

agreed. When asked whether the Student’s Oppositional Defiant Disorder or bipolar disorder 

had been discussed and considered, the Principal said that it was mostly the Student’s ADHD 
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that had been discussed. The Principal also added that the Student’s interim placement prior to 

the expulsion hearing was also not discussed.  

 The Teacher stated that he was not asked to attend the Student’s manifestation determination 

meeting. Nor was he asked to share any observations about the Student, including those related 

to the Student’s Section 504 plan or BSP.  

 The Psychologist corroborated the fact that the team had only considered whether the Student’s 

ADHD had caused him to threaten others, and had not evaluated the potential impact of other 

disabilities on the Student’s conduct.  

 In a letter to the District and School staff and administrators, dated April XX, 2013, the 

complainant alleged that the Student’s Section 504 plan and BSP had not been followed. The 

letter also alleged that when the Student returned to the School on April XX, 2013, the Student 

was met with “negative words” and “much hesitation” and told that he “was not going to make 

it at all at [the School] this time.” He expressed frustration that no changes had been made to the 

Student’s Section 504 plan or BSP even though the complainant had expected changes to be 

made based on prior conversations with administrators. He asserted that it was his belief that 

when a parent “request[ed] to have changes made to the [Section]504/IEP/Behavior Plan[,] that 

request must be honored.” He concluded his letter with a request that the Student not be 

expelled because School staff “failed to follow the [Section] 504/Behavior Plan and its 

accommodations listed on plan and [his] request before [the Student’s] suspension to revisit the 

[Section] 504/Behavior plan was ignored.”  

 Both the Psychologist and Principal acknowledged receiving a copy of the complainant’s letter. 

The Psychologist stated that the letter arrived following the manifestation determination 

meeting. The Principal stated that the complainant brought the letter to the manifestation 

determination meeting. The complainant was not provided with a written response to the letter.  

 The Principal stated that he met with the complainant in January of 2013, and the complainant 

requested a reassessment based on concerns about the Student’s mental health. School staff took 

no action to increase mental health or other services, reassess the Student or amend the Section 

504 plan or BSP during or after that meeting.  

 The Principal recommended in a letter to the District’s Executive Director of Prevention and 

Intervention (Executive Director), dated April XX, 2013, that the Student be expelled for the 

April XX, 2013 incident.  The Executive Director in turn sent a letter to the complainant, dated 

April XX, 2013, notifying him that the School had recommended expulsion proceedings. The 

Student was ultimately expelled from the District in July 2013. Since then, he has been enrolled 

in programs operated by the County.  

 

Staff Training and Implementation of IEPs, Section 504 plans and BSPs 

 The campus assistants told OCR that they were not provided with copies of students’ Section 

504 plans, IEPs or BSPs, including those of the Student. Nor had they received any specific 

training in implementing students’ Section 504 plans, IEPs or BSPs. 
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 The Principal described the training that he provides for staff on the implementation of Section 

504 plans as taking a student’s Section 504 plan over to the student’s teacher and talking about 

the plan with the teacher. 

 The Psychologist told OCR that she discusses implementation of BSPs at professional 

development for Vice Principals at the beginning of the school year.  

 The Teacher told OCR that he had not had any specific training on implementing students’ 

BSPs, Section 504 plans or IEPs but merely “generic vague training” in college.  

 The District informed OCR that the Psychologist was a licensed CPI trainer and that the 

Principal and Vice Principal had received instruction in Applied Physical Training. The District 

also noted that the two campus assistants had also received instruction in nonviolent crisis 

intervention in August 2012. Staff described CPI intervention as an action used on students 

whose misconduct impacts the safety of other students and staff on campus.  

Policies and Procedures 

 Relevant to this matter, the District’s Administrative Regulation (AR) 6164.6, last revised in 

2009, provides the following: 

  

Section 504 team shall monitor the progress of the student and the effectiveness of the 

student’s Section 504 services plan to determine whether the services are appropriate 

and necessary and whether the student’s needs are being met as adequately as the needs 

of nondisabled students. The team shall review the student’s plan annually. In addition, 

the student’s eligibility under Section 504 shall be reevaluated at least once every three 

years. 

 

A reevaluation of the student’s needs shall be conducted before any subsequent 

significant change in placement. (34 CFR § 104.35) 

 

 The District’s AR 5144.2, last revised in 2003, describes its suspension and expulsion 

procedures for students with disabilities.  Under AR 5144.2, a student identified as an individual 

with disabilities pursuant to IDEA “is subject to the same grounds for suspension and expulsion 

which apply to students without disabilities.”  AR 5144.2 provides that a student “who has not 

been determined to be eligible for special education and related services pursuant to IDEA and 

who has violated the district's disciplinary procedures may assert the procedural safeguards of 

the IDEA only if the district had knowledge that the student was a child with a disability before 

the behavior occurred.” The District is considered to have knowledge of a child being a student 

with a disability if 

(1)  “The parent/guardian has expressed concern in writing […] to the district that the student is 

in need of special education and related services”; 

(2)  “The behavior or performance of the student demonstrates the need for such services”; 

(3)  “The parent/guardian has requested an evaluation of the student for special education”; or  

(4) “The teacher of the student (or other district personnel) has expressed concern about the 

behavior or performance of the student to the district's Director of Special Education or to 
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other personnel in accordance with the district's established child find or special education 

referral system.”  

 AR 5144.2 further provides that the IEP team, after considering this information, is to 

“determine, in relationship to the behavior subject to the disciplinary action, whether the IEP 

and placement were appropriate and whether supplementary aids, and services and behavior 

intervention strategies were provided consistent with the child's IEP and placement. The team 

shall also determine that the student's disability did not impair the ability of the student to 

understand the impact and consequences of the behavior, nor did it impair his/her ability to 

control the behavior subject to the disciplinary action. If the IEP team determines that the 

student's behavior was not a manifestation of his/her disability, then the student may be 

disciplined in accordance with the procedures for students without disabilities. If the IEP team 

determines that the student's behavior was a manifestation of his/her disability, then the student's 

placement may only be changed via the IEP team process.” 

 The District’s disciplinary policies have a section regarding students with disabilities and the 

process to be used; however it only refers to students with IEPs.  It does not include or address 

students with a Section 504 plan. 

 The District’s special education policy at AR 6159.4, last revised in 1999, describes behavioral 

interventions for special education students. It defines and describes behavior problems, 

behavior plans and functional assessment, and states that, “When a Special Education student's 

‘serious behavioral problem’ significantly interferes with implementing the goals and objects of 

his/her IEP, the student's IEP team shall determine whether the instructional/behavioral 

approaches specified in the student's IEP have proven ineffective. If the IEP team finds that 

these approaches have been ineffective, a functional analysis assessment shall be conducted.” 

There is no language to indicate that students with Section 504 plans are covered under AR 

6159.4 and the District has no similar Section 504 procedures for students with Section 504 

plans who require behavioral interventions.  

 

Analysis of Allegation 1: Whether the District failed to implement the Student’s Section 504 

plan and Behavior Support Plan.  

 

Legal Standard 

 

The Section 504 implementing regulation, at 34 C.F.R. §103.33, requires recipients that operate 

public elementary and secondary education programs to provide a FAPE to all students with 

disabilities in their jurisdiction.  An appropriate education is defined as regular or special education 

and related aids and services that are designed to meet the individual needs of students with 

disabilities as adequately as the needs of non-disabled students are met, and that are developed in 

accordance with the procedural requirements of §§104.34-104.36 pertaining to educational setting, 

evaluation and placement, and due process protections. Implementation of an IEP developed in 

accordance with the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) is one means of meeting these 

requirements.  OCR interprets the Title II regulations, at 28 C.F.R. §§35,193(a) and 35.130(b)(1)(ii) 

and (iii), to require districts to provide a FAPE at least to the same extent required under Section 

504 regulation. 
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Analysis and Conclusion of Law 

 

When the Student enrolled at the School in Fall 2011, OCR found that the Student’s 2009 Section 

504 plan and BSP were still the operative plans in effect to address the Student’s disabilities.  

However, OCR learned that School staff and administrators who regularly worked with the Student 

were not aware of or familiar with either the Student’s Section 504 plan or BSP. Because staff 

cannot implement a plan of which they have no knowledge and because staff did not provide any 

other evidence of implementation, OCR found that the Student’s Section 504 plan and BSP were 

not implemented during the first semester and first half of the second semester of the 2011-2012 

school year. 

 
The April 2012 Section 504 plan, developed toward the end of the Student’s first year at the School, 

had minimal interventions: positive reinforcement to recognize positive behaviors; preferential 

seating and communication between administrators and complainant regarding the Student’s 

negative behaviors. However, the April 2012 BSP, which was part of the Section 504 plan, provided 

specific behavioral interventions, such as use of a star chart with clearly defined behavior 

expectations, a highly-structured on/off task schedule with dense, immediate reinforcement, and 

allowing the Student to quickly run to the school yard fence and back to release pent up energy.  

The Student’s Teacher did not discuss any of these BSP interventions when asked by OCR to 

describe the behavior interventions applied in the classroom and focused on general strategies that 

applied to all students. Additionally, the Student’s Teacher told OCR that the District had not 

provided him with any training on implementing BSPs or Section 504 plans. 

Instead of following the BSP, the evidence shows that the School’s standard response to the 

Student’s behavior was to send him to Room 7, where he received no books and may not have 

received any instructional materials or a pencil, and was required to either stand still facing a wall 

or sit in a chair for the duration of his stay. The Student’s Teacher reported to OCR that the Student 

was sent to Room 7 “too often for a healthy student.” The Principal stated that in his sixth grade 

year he was sent to Room 7 three or four times a week.  As further evidence that the Student’s 

Section 504 plan and BSP were not implemented, the primary supervisors of Room 7, the campus 

assistants, did not have a copy of either the Student’s Section 504 plan or his BSP. They reported to 

OCR that they were not aware of his accommodations in either plan, and had never received 

training in implementing students’ disability-related or behavioral accommodations. 

Consequently, OCR finds that in violation of Section 504, Title II and their implementing 

regulations, the District denied the Student a FAPE by failing to implement first the Student’s 2009 

Section 504 plan and BSP, and then the Student’s 2012 Section 504 plan and BSP. 

Analysis of Allegation 2: Whether the District subjected the Student to a significant change in 

placement without first conducting an evaluation/re-evaluation of the Student. 

Legal Standard 

The Section 504 regulations, at 34 C.F.R. §104.35(a), require school districts to evaluate any 

student who, because of disability, needs or is believed to need special education or related aids and 

services before initially placing the student and before any subsequent significant change in 

placement.  Subsection (c) requires that placement decisions be made by a group of persons 

knowledgeable about the student, the evaluation data, and the placement options.  Placement 
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decisions must be based on information from a variety of sources that is carefully considered and 

documented.  Sections 104.36 requires school districts to provide procedural safeguards for parents 

and guardians of disabled students with respect to any action regarding the identification, evaluation 

or placement of the student. Taken together, the regulations prohibit a district from taking 

disciplinary action that results in a significant change in the placement of a disabled student without 

reevaluating the student and affording due process procedures. OCR interprets the Title II 

regulations, at 28 C.F.R. §§35.103(a) and 35.130(b)(1)(ii) and (iii), to require districts to act 

consistent with the Section 504 regulations in disciplining disabled students. 

  

The exclusion of a disabled student from his or her program for more than 10 consecutive days, or 

for a total of more than 10 cumulative days in a school year under circumstances that show a pattern 

of exclusion, constitutes a significant change in placement. Where such a change is occurring 

through the disciplinary process, districts must evaluate whether the misconduct was caused by, or 

was a manifestation of, the student’s disability.  If so, the district may not take the disciplinary 

action and should determine whether the student’s current placement is appropriate.  If the 

misconduct is not found to be a manifestation of the student’s disability, the disciplinary action may 

be administered in the same manner as for non-disabled students. 

 

Analysis and Conclusions of Law 

 

With regard to the issue of significant change in placement, OCR analyzed the District’s policies and 

procedures, the number of suspensions served by the Student, and the amount of time the Student 

spent, along with his experience, in Room 7. 

 

Policies and Procedures 

 

OCR found that the District’s policies and procedures regarding significant changes in placement did 

not provide a process for evaluating or re-evaluating students with disabilities who have a Section 504 

plan. The District’s administrative regulation for discipline at AR 5144.2, which includes the process 

for behavioral interventions and manifestation determinations, provides that an individual with a 

disability is one who has been identified pursuant only to IDEA and does not discuss or refer to 

students identified as having a disability under Section 504. The District’s administrative regulation 

for special education at AR 6159, which covers behavioral interventions for special education 

students, does not reference or include students with Section 504 plans. Similarly, the District’s 

Section 504 administrative regulation at AR 6164.6 does not provide for procedural protections for 

students subjected to discipline resulting in a significant change in placement. Therefore, OCR 

determined that in violation of Section 504, Title II and their implementing regulations, the District 

does not have policies/procedures or a process to ensure that students with disabilities who have a 

Section 504 plan are evaluated or re-evaluated prior to being subjected to a discipline-related 

significant change in placement. 

 

Suspensions 

 

OCR found that the District suspended the Student for more than 10 days in the 2012-2013 school 

year. In this regard, the Student was suspended for thirteen days between August 2012 and April 

2013. The suspensions were due to a pattern of similar behaviors (physical aggression and disruption, 
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including making vulgar and disrespectful comments) that had been described in the Student’s 

disciplinary record and in his BSP. 

 

On April XX, 2013, the District held a Section 504 manifestation determination meeting to 

determine whether the Student’s misconduct with regard to the two serious incidents that occurred 

in late April 2013 was a manifestation of his disability prior to recommending the Student for 

expulsion, which would be a significant change in placement. In evaluating whether the Student’s 

misconduct was a manifestation of his disability, the District’s sole consideration was whether the 

Student’s ADHD prevented him from understanding right from wrong. This is not equivalent to or a 

substitute for the evaluation required under 34 C.F.R. §104.35. Additionally, with regard to the 

specific requirements under 34 C.F.R. § 104.35(c), the District’s manifestation determination failed 

to include consideration of all relevant information, such as evaluation and diagnostic results, 

observations of the Student, the Student’s then current Section 504 placement, and information 

supplied by individuals knowledgeable about the Student such as his teachers and the complainant.  

The latter had submitted a letter to the District on the day of the manifestation determination that 

stated that the School had not been implementing the Student’s Section 504 plan or BSP. Therefore, 

OCR concluded that with respect to the Student’s April XX, 2013 manifestation determination, the 

District failed to evaluate the Student in violation of the regulation implementing Section 504 at 34 

C.F.R.§104.35. 

 

Room 7 

 
OCR also determined that the Student’s experience combined with the length of time spent in Room 

7 constituted a significant change in placement. Room 7 was described by School administrators as 

having two functions: discipline (as the School’s on-campus detention room used for behavior that 

would otherwise be suspendable) and behavior intervention (as a timeout room). OCR found that 

the District’s policy and practice was to remove disruptive students, including the Student, from the 

classroom setting and send them to Room 7, where they were required to stand quietly facing a wall 

for varying lengths of time with the minimum being 15 minutes. OCR also found that Students from 

the teacher’s class were often provided with little-to-no academic work and typically received no 

instructional or other support. For these reasons, OCR considers time in Room 7 exclusionary. 

During the 2011-2012 school year, the Student was sent to Room 7 on 69 days. During the 2012-

2013 school year, the Student was sent to Room 7 on 37 of the 83 days he was enrolled at the 

School. The amount of time the Student spent in Room 7 varied from 15 minutes to the entire 

school day. However, staff reported that it was common for the Student to spend the entire day in 

Room 7. Due to the cumulative length of time the Student spent in Room 7, as well as the little-to-

no instruction, services, accommodations or supports provided while he was in the room, as 

required by his Section 504 plan and BSP, OCR found that the Student’s time in Room 7 

constituted a significant change in placement. 

For the 2011-2012 and 2012-2013 school years, the District should have conducted an evaluation 

prior to requiring the Student to spend more than a cumulative total of 10 days in Room 7 to  

examine whether the Student’s then-current array of regular or special education and related aids 

and services, including the Student’s existing Section 504 plan, BSP and placement at the School, 

was meeting the Student’s individual educational needs as adequately as the needs of students 
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without disabilities are met.
3
 OCR determined that the District’s failure to evaluate the Student prior 

to making a significant change in placement, with respect to the Room 7 exclusions, violated the 

regulation implementing Section 504 at 34 C.F.R. §104.35(a-b). 

OCR’s investigation also raised significant concerns that Room 7 was used as a seclusion or 

isolation room for the Student in lieu of providing required services, supports, accommodations, and 

modifications. Seclusion is generally defined as the involuntary confinement of a student alone in a 

room or area from which the student is physically prevented from leaving.  A school district 

discriminates on the basis of disability by unlawfully treating students with disabilities differently in 

the use of seclusion, implementing seclusion in a manner that has an unjustified disparate, adverse 

impact on students with disabilities, or denying students a FAPE through the use of seclusion.  The 

written protocol posted on the wall of Room 7 states that students sent there are to be “isolated” and 

staff told OCR that students sent there would be prevented or “blocked” from leaving until they had 

“served their time.” The evidence shows that Room 7 was not used solely as a timeout room. 

Indeed, School staff told OCR that students were sent to Room 7 to be disciplined for behaviors that 

did not present an immediate safety concern, including for engaging in suspendable offenses such as 

profanity, disrespect, and refusal to complete an in-class assignment. Thus, Room 7 was used by 

staff to discipline and punish students.  In this regard, OCR notes that all students sent to Room 7, 

regardless of emotional state upon arrival, were required to stand quietly for 15 minutes, with the 

clock re-starting every time the student failed to be quiet, before they were permitted to sit down.  

OCR reviewed daily attendance logs showing that the Student was sent to Room 7 on a regular 

basis. 

 

During the 2012-2013 school year, OCR determined that the District had reason to suspect based on 

the marked increase in significant behaviors and the fact that the Student was rarely able to remain 

in class and receive instruction that the use of Room 7 as a behavior intervention for the Student 

was not appropriate to meet his unique needs. In addition, the complainant made one written request 

for amendments to the Student’s BSP and Section 504 plan in April of 2013 and another oral 

request for a reevaluation in January of 2013 based on the Student’s declining mental health.   

Pursuant to 34 C.F.R. §  104.35(d) where, as here, there is reason to believe that a reevaluation is 

necessary, the District, in addition to conducting the reevaluation,
4
 has an obligation under Section 

504 to convene the Section 504 team (or IEP team) to (1) determine the extent to which additional 

or different interventions or supports and services are needed, (2) ensure that any needed changes 

are made promptly, and (3) remedy any negative effects that resulted from the use of an 

inappropriate intervention. As such, OCR found that the District’s failure to conduct a re-evaluation 

of the Student and reconvene the Section 504 or IEP team after the June 2012 assessment violated 

Section 504, Title II and their implementing regulations. 

 

Conclusion 

 

To address OCR’s findings of noncompliance and concerns, the District, without admitting to any 

violation of law, entered into the enclosed resolution agreement, which is aligned with the 

complaint allegations and the information obtained by OCR during its investigation.  Pursuant to the 

agreement, the District will, within specified timeframes: 

                                                           
3
 34 C.F.R. §§ 104.35 and 104.33(b). 

4
 34 C.F.R. § 104.33(b). 
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 Review the Student’s assessment reports, attend the Section 504 or IEP meeting held by the 

County, and contribute to the group’s discussions about placement and service decisions for 

the Student; 

 Provide the Student with 373 hours of compensatory and remedial education and mental 

health services;  

 Develop a guidance memorandum regarding the process the District uses to send students 

with disabilities to Room 7 or rooms similar to Room 7 to ensure that students with 

disabilities are not discriminated against or denied a FAPE; 

 Develop a guidance memorandum for staff on conducting manifestation determinations; 

 Revise its administrative regulations on discipline and its Section 504 policies and 

procedures; and 

 Provide training to staff on implementing Section 504 plans, behavior support plans, and 

other responsibilities under Section 504, including identification, evaluation and placement 

of students with disabilities. 

 

When fully implemented the resolution agreement is intended to address all of OCR’s compliance 

concerns in this investigation.  OCR will monitor the implementation of the agreement until the 

District is in compliance with Section 504, Title II and the regulations at issue in this case. 

 

This concludes OCR’s investigation of the complaint and should not be interpreted to address the 

District’s compliance with any other regulatory provision or to address any issues other than those 

addressed in this letter. OCR is closing the investigation of this complaint as of the date of this letter 

and notifying the complainant concurrently. 

 

This letter sets forth OCR’s determination in an individual OCR case. This letter is not a formal 

statement of OCR policy and should not be relied upon, cited, or construed as such. OCR’s formal 

policy statements are approved by a duly authorized OCR official and made available to the public.  

The complainant may have the right to file a private suit in federal court whether or not OCR finds a 

violation. 

 

Please be advised that the District may not harass, coerce, intimidate, or discriminate against any 

individual because he or she has filed a complaint or participated in the complaint resolution 

process.  If this happens, the complainant may file another complaint alleging such treatment. 

 

Under the Freedom of Information Act, it may be necessary to release this document and related 

correspondence and records upon request.  In the event that OCR receives such a request, we will 

seek to protect, to the extent provided by law, personally identifiable information, which, if 

released, could reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy. 

 

OCR thanks the District and the District’s Counsel, Diandra Netto, for their cooperation during this 

investigation.  If you have any questions about this letter, please contact Nancy Sablan, Investigator, 

at nancy.f.sablan@ed.gov, or Shilpa Ram, Civil Rights Attorney, at shilpa.ram@ed.gov. 

 

 

      Sincerely, 

 

mailto:nancy.f.sablan@ed.gov
mailto:shilpa.ram@ed.gov
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      /s/ 

 

      Zachary Pelchat 

      Team Leader 

 

Enclosure 

 

cc:  Diandra Netto, Attorney. 




